2004

Mark Technologies Corp., a California Corporation, and Mark Jones, Plaintiffs/  
Appellants, vs. Utah Resources International, Inc., a Utah Corporation, John Fife, David Fife, Lyle D. Hurd, Jr., Gerry Brown, individuals, Defendants/  
Appellees : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

This appeal was within the appellate jurisdiction of the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-(3)(j)(1953)(as amended). The case was transferred to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code. Ann. § 78-2-2 (4) by an order dated December 23, 2004. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-4 (2)(j).

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Whether the trial court erred in applying a legal standard of “best efforts” that was the functional equivalent of the less exacting “good faith” standard by failing to consider a party’s diligence as the touchstone of its “best efforts” analysis. The trial court’s interpretation of a contract is a legal conclusion reviewed for correctness. *Pack v. Case*, 30 P.3d 436, 440 (Utah App. 2001). This issue was preserved on appeal during closing arguments of the trial held February 10-12, 2004. (R. at 3466; Transcript at 688.)

2. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that Defendants had used their “best efforts” in resolving URI’s relationship with Morgan Gas & Oil as required by the Settlement Agreement dated June 26, 1996. This issue presents a question of fact, which is reviewed to determine whether it is clearly erroneous. *Pack v. Case*, 30 P.3d 436, 440 (Utah App. 2001). This issue was preserved on appeal during closing arguments of the trial held February 10-12, 2004. (R. at 3466; Transcript at 688.)

3. Whether the trial court erred in awarding attorneys fees to Defendants based on its finding that Defendants were the prevailing party on Plaintiffs' claim that Defendants failed to use their "best efforts" to unwind URI's relationships with Morgan Gas & Oil where Defendants' tardy compliance with the unwinding requirement only came about as a result of Plaintiffs' lawsuit seeking judicial enforcement of the unwinding. The question of whether the Defendants were entitled to an award of fees is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Campbell v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 65 P.3d 1134, 1145 (Utah 2001). The amount of the award is a fact question which is reviewed to determine whether it is clearly erroneous. *Id.* This issue was preserved on appeal during closing arguments of the trial held February 10-12, 2004. (R. at 3466; Transcript at 677.)

### **DETERMINATIVE LAW**

There are no constitutional, statutory, or other provisions of law, the interpretation of which is determinative of the issues presented herein.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. The Settlement Agreement**

A multiplicity of litigation involving a multitude of parties was settled by way of a settlement agreement (the "Settlement Agreement") entered into on June 26, 1996. A copy of the Settlement Agreement is included in the addendum as Exhibit "A." Parties to the Settlement Agreement included Plaintiffs Mark Jones ("Jones") and Mark



Technologies Corp. (“MTC”) and Defendants John Fife (“Fife”), Lyle D. Hurd (“Hurd”) and Utah Resources International (“URI”).

The Settlement Agreement was comprised of many provisions whereby both the Plaintiffs and Defendants assumed responsibility for the completion of various agreed upon obligations. At issue in this case, is an obligation found in Paragraph 1.1 of the Settlement Agreement which provides:

1. Unless otherwise provided, the following events shall occur at Closing (as defined herein):

\* \* \*

1. The Parties hereto shall exercise their best efforts to account for, pay, compromise, unwind, and/or terminate all existing contractual relationships between URI and Morgan Gas & Oil Co.

(Addendum, Exhibit “A,” at 3, 8).

The plain language of this provision requires the Defendants to exercise their “best efforts” to effectively unwind and/or terminate all existing contractual relationships between URI and Morgan Gas & Oil Co. (“MGO”). The essence of this case is the Plaintiffs’ contention that the Defendants breached their duty to exercise their “best efforts” in unwinding the contractual relationships between URI and MGO.

B. The unwinding of URI from MGO.<sup>1</sup>

From the time the Settlement Agreement was entered into in June of 1996, throughout the balance of 1996 and throughout all of 1997, Plaintiffs persistently requested that Defendants comply with the Settlement Agreement by taking action to wind up URI's relationship with MGO. (R. at 966.) In fact, in June of 1997, Jones made a motion in one of the cases settled by the Settlement Agreement requesting that the court enforce the Settlement Agreement by ordering Defendants to wind up URI's relationship with MGO. URI opposed the Motion. (R. at 964.) Shortly thereafter, Fife told Jones that URI would never pay money to MGO to wind up the relationship unless MGO filed a lawsuit. (R. at 1099.) By separate letters dated August 21, 1997 and October 10, 1997, Jones requested in writing that URI comply with the Settlement Agreement with regard to MGO. (R. at 1099.) Jones received no response to his requests. (R. at 1099.) Throughout the period, URI provided no information to Jones or its other directors of any actions it had taken or was planning to take to wind up the relationship with MGO, and

---

<sup>1</sup> The facts set forth in this section do not represent the Plaintiffs' fulfillment of the marshaling requirement that is imposed on a party challenging a trial court's finding of fact. *See Jacobs v. Hafen*, 875 P.2d 559, 561 (Utah App. 1994). Section II of the Argument section contains the Plaintiffs' compliance with the marshaling requirement where the Plaintiffs have marshaled every piece of evidence, received both orally and through documentary exhibits, that supports the trial court's finding of fact that Defendants used their "best efforts" to unwind URI's business and contractual relationships with MGO. However, the facts as set forth in this section are solely intended to provide this Court with a factual footing necessary to adjudicating the issues raised on appeal.

ignored all requests from Jones and MTC for information concerning such actions. (R. at 966.) As of the time the Plaintiffs' complaint was filed on January 20, 1998 seeking to enforce the unwinding provision, no substantial action had been taken to unwind URI's relationships with MGO.

Once Plaintiffs filed their complaint, the Defendants sprung into action in order to unwind URI from MGO. The first mention of the MGO unwinding in the minutes of URI's board of directors meetings occurred on February 27, 1998, where Fife made a motion for a resolution authorizing URI's officers to use their best efforts to wind up the contractual relationships with MGO by the end of 1998. (R. at 15; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 5w.) Prior to that meeting, the MGO unwinding had never been addressed by URI's board of directors. (R. at 15; Plaintiffs' Exhibits 5a-w.)

Despite the resolution, URI took no further action to unwind the MGO relationship for several months. On June 25, 1998, the trial court heard argument on URI's first Motion for Summary Judgment on the MGO claim, and denied the Motion. (R. at 449-451.) The following week, Fife and URI began their first serious discussions towards unwinding the relationship. (R. at 925.) URI and Fife ultimately scheduled a conference call for July 15, 1998, and on July 20, 1998, Fife made a written proposal to MGO. (R. at 15; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12c.) The July 20, 1998 proposal consisted of less than two pages and was the first proposal of any kind made by URI since the Settlement Agreement was entered two years earlier. (R. at 15; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12c.)

After brief discussions, Fife made a revised proposal on August 1, 1998, which MGO's president verbally approved. (R. at 15; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12e.) The parties made further revisions to the proposal and drafted a Letter of Intent dated August 21, 1998 which was approved by URI's Board of Directors on September 2, 1998. (R. at 15; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 5z.) The process was completed when the parties executed a Partnership Settlement Agreement on December 15, 1998. (R. at 15; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15.)

Once Defendants actually began to actively address the MGO unwinding, the entire process was completed and documents signed within a period of five months. However, from June of 1996 through July of 1998, the only documentary evidence of Defendants' effort to unwind from MGO was a two-page spreadsheet prepared on May 30, 1997 and a board resolution authorizing the officers to act on February 27, 1998. (R. at 15; Defendants' Exhibit 19; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 5w.)

C. Procedural History.

On January 20, 1998, MTC and Jones filed a complaint alleging, among other things, that Defendants had breached the terms of the Settlement Agreement by failing to use their "best efforts" to unwind URI's relationship with MGO. (R. at 1.) On August 17, 1998, the Defendants filed an Answer, which included Counterclaims against MTC and Jones for breach of the Settlement Agreement and for payment of attorneys fees. (R. at 470.) On January 1, 1999, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all

claims. (R. at 561.) The Motions were heard on November 12, 1999, and the Court entered a Memorandum Decision on January 5, 2000 granting summary judgment and dismissing all of MTC and Jones' claims. (R. at 1515, 1516.)

On February 17, 2000, the Defendants moved for an order awarding attorneys fees and costs against Plaintiffs. After briefing and argument, the Motion for attorney's fees was granted by a Memorandum Decision dated January 4, 2001. (R. at 1834.) A final Judgment Order was entered on February 26, 2001. (R. at 1927.) Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on March 1, 2001. (R. at 1933.)

On appeal, this Court reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment on several of Plaintiffs' claims, including the claim that Defendants had failed to use their "best efforts" to unwind the relationships between URI and MGO. (R. at 1956.) This Court remanded that issue to the trial court for resolution of the unresolved fact question of whether Defendants had breached the terms of the Settlement Agreement by failing to use their "best efforts" in unwinding URI's relationships from MGO, and for a determination of which party was the "prevailing party" on the claim for purposes of awarding attorneys fees. (R. at 1958-1960.)

After a trial addressing the issues remanded to the trial court, the trial court held that Plaintiffs had failed to satisfy their burden of proof to demonstrate, to a preponderance of the evidence, that Defendants had not used their "best efforts" to unwind and/or terminate all existing contractual relationships with MGO. (R. at 2121.)

On November 17, 2004, the trial court entered an Order Regarding Attorneys' Fees in which the court awarded attorneys fees and costs to the Plaintiffs in the amount of \$34,834.02 and attorneys fees and costs to the Defendants in the amount of \$110,187.77. (R. at 3413.) The court then set the Plaintiffs' award off against the award to Defendants and held that Defendants were entitled to attorneys fees and costs in the net amount of \$75,353.75. (R. at 3413.)

On December 17, 2004, Plaintiffs filed their notice of appeal (R. at 3418,) and on January 7, 2005, Plaintiffs filed their Docketing Statement with this Court.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court committed an error of law by applying an interpretation of "best efforts" that fails to consider a party's diligence as the touchstone of the "best efforts" analysis. Courts which have distinguished between the "best efforts" standard and that of "good faith" have noted that a party's diligence in fulfilling its agreed upon obligation is the distinguishing factor between the more exacting "best efforts" standard and the less stringent standard of "good faith." While the trial court purported to apply a "best efforts" analysis in this case, its failure to scrutinize the diligence with which the Defendants attempted to unwind from MGO coupled with the court's focus on the reasonableness and intent of the Defendants' actions, and inactions, rendered the trial court's "best efforts" analysis the functional equivalent of the less exacting "good faith" standard.

The trial court also erred in concluding as a factual matter that Defendants used their “best efforts” to unwind URI’s relationships with MGO. After marshaling the evidence in support of the trial court’s findings, Plaintiffs contend that the clear weight of evidence in this case not only shows the trial court erred in holding that Defendants used their “best efforts” in unwinding URI’s relationship with MGO, but that Defendants expended virtually no effort whatsoever to fulfill its obligation to unwind from MGO for a period of twenty months.

Additionally, the clear weight of evidence contradicts the Defendants’ assertion that URI’s unwinding with MGO was a complex issue requiring twenty months of delay. Moreover, the facts show that Defendants only began to dedicate any effort whatsoever to the unwinding after the Plaintiffs had commenced legal action seeking to judicially enforce the unwinding. The clear weight of the evidence in this case shows that the trial court’s finding that Defendants used their “best efforts” in fulfilling their obligation to unwind its relationships with MGO was clearly erroneous.

Finally, Plaintiffs contend that this Court should remand the award of attorneys fees to the trial court for a recalculation of the award based on a finding that Plaintiffs are the prevailing party on their claim that Defendants breached the Settlement Agreement by failing to use their “best efforts.” Plaintiffs contend that because the Defendants only complied with the unwinding provision as a result of the Plaintiffs’ lawsuit, that the Plaintiffs should be deemed the prevailing party as to this claim and the trial court should

modify its fee award to reflect this conclusion. Plaintiffs do not challenge the method implemented by the trial court in calculating the award of attorneys fees; but rather, contend that the trial court should recalculate those fees consistent with a ruling that Plaintiffs were the prevailing party.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED AN ERROR OF LAW BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THE DEFENDANTS' DILIGENCE AS THE TOUCHSTONE OF ITS "BEST EFFORTS" STANDARD, AND THEREBY APPLIED A LEGAL STANDARD THAT WAS THE FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENT OF THE LESS EXACTING STANDARD OF "GOOD FAITH."

*The trial court erred in applying a legal standard of "best efforts" as provided in the Settlement Agreement that was the functional equivalent of a less exacting "good faith" standard. The Seventh Circuit has noted that courts applying the "best efforts" and "good faith" standards have at times "muddled" these two concepts. Beraha v. Baxter Health Care Corp., 956 F.2d 1436, 1445 (7th Cir. 1992). Jones contends that by focusing on the reasonableness and intent of the Defendants' actions rather than considering the diligence with which Defendants attempted to unwind URI's relationships with MGO, the trial court effectively "muddled" the distinction between the more stringent "best efforts" standard and the less exacting standard of "good faith.*



**A. The Legal Standard of “Best Efforts” is More Exacting Than That of “Good Faith.”**

A party required to use its “best efforts” in the fulfilment of a contractual obligation is held to a higher standard of performance than a party required to exercise “good faith.” The Utah Supreme Court has held that to satisfy the contractual obligation of “good faith,” a party’s actions “must be consistent with the agreed upon common purpose and the justified expectations of the other party.” *St. Benedict’s Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict’s Hosp.*, 811 P.2d 194, 199-200 (Utah 1991). Pursuant to its plain language, “good faith” does not require that a party engage in any specific, timely, or consistent efforts to achieve its obligation; but rather, that whatever efforts the party does make, however minimal, not be contrary to the other party’s expectations. In short, “good faith” is a baseline standard which only requires that a party’s actions not manifest an attempt to sabotage the agreed upon obligation or undermine the other party’s expectations.

In contrast, “best efforts” demands a higher standard of performance and accountability. Black’s Law Dictionary defines “best efforts” as “[d]iligent attempts to carry out an obligation,” and that “[a]s a standard, a best-efforts obligation is stronger than a good-faith obligation.” Black’s Law Dictionary 152 (7th ed. 1999)(emphasis added.) Pursuant to this definition, the distinction between the “stronger” obligation of “best efforts” and the less exacting standard of “good faith” is a party’s diligent effort to fulfill its obligation rather than merely not acting contrary to another party’s expectations.

In *Carlson Distrib. Co. v. Salt Lake Brewing Co.*, 95 P.3d 1171, 1179 (Utah App. 2004), this Court held that “best efforts is primarily a subjective standard under which a party agrees to do the best that it can regardless of the capabilities of others.” This definition is further explained by decisions of courts in other jurisdictions. In *Macksey v. Egan*, 633 N.E.2d 408, 414 (Mass.App.Ct. 1994), the Massachusetts Court of Appeals held that in the natural sense of the words “[b]est efforts means that a party put its muscles to work to perform with the full energy and fairness that the promises and reasonable implications of the contract require.”<sup>2</sup> Additionally, in *Gilson v. Rainin Instrument, LLC*, 2005 WL 1899471 (W.D.Wis. 2005), the court held that the “duty to use best efforts requires the defendant to use “reasonable efforts and due diligence” in the promotion of the plaintiff’s medical supplies. *Id.* at 5<sup>3</sup> The court also stated that “[b]est efforts is a standard that has diligence as its essence” and that when compared to the “good-faith” standard “best efforts is the more exacting.” 2005 WL 1899471 at 5 quoting E. Allan Farnsworth, *On Trying to Keep One’s Promises: The Duty of Best Efforts in Contract Law*, 46 U.Pitt. L.Rev. 1, 8 (1984).

---

<sup>2</sup> Other courts have followed this reasoning as evidence by *Western Geophysical Co. v. Bolt Assoc.*, 584 F.2d 1164, 1170-1171 (2d Cir. 1978); *Triple-A Baseball Club Assocs. v. Northeastern Baseball, Inc.*, 832 F.2d 214, 225-226 (1st. Cir. 1987); *Polyglycoat Corp. v. C.P.C. Distrib., Inc.*, 534 F. Supp. 200, 203 (S.D.N.Y. 1982).

<sup>3</sup> As an unpublished opinion, a copy of the *Gilson* decisions has been included in the addendum and is marked as Exhibit “B.”

In the natural sense of the words, “best efforts” requires that a party not merely intend to do well but that it actually “put its muscles to work” with all “due diligence” and “full energy” in attempting to fulfill its obligation. Plaintiffs contend that based on this Court’s standard for determining “best efforts,” a trial court must look to a party’s diligence in order to properly determine whether that party has in fact exercised “best efforts” or whether it has merely acted in “good faith.” Given the propensity of courts to muddle these two concepts, it is imperative that trial courts consider the diligence of a party as the touchstone of its analysis when determining whether “best efforts” have been exerted.

**B. The Trial Court Failed to Apply the Appropriate Standard for Determining “Best Efforts” By Neglecting to Consider the Defendants’ Diligence in Unwinding URI’s Relationships with MGO.**

The trial court committed an error of law in this case by applying a legal standard of “best efforts” that omitted as its touchstone evidence of a party’s diligence, thereby rendering its analysis virtually identical to the less stringent standard of “good faith.” The trial court began its analysis by holding that “best efforts” means to “make the best effort possible in the context of the circumstances and situation.” (R. at 2122.) While at first blush this articulation may appear identical to the “best efforts” standard set forth by this Court in *Carlson*, the trial court erred by applying its own definition which focused on the reasonableness and intent of the Defendants’ actions rather than considering the Defendants’ diligence, or lack thereof, in attempting to unwind URI’s relationships with

MGO. The trial court's emphasis on the reasonableness of the Defendants' actions and the Defendants' intent is essentially a "good faith" rather than "best efforts" analysis.

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