2004

Mark Technologies Corp., a California Corporation, and Mark Jones, Plaintiff-Appellants, vs. Utah Resources International, Inc., a Utah Corporation, John Fife, David Fife, Lyle D. Hurd, Jr., Gerry Brown, individuals, Defendants-Appellees :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

[H]e was not looking at this at all as just an MGO thing. He was trying to unwind all these activities of the past.” (Tr. 579).

Ultimately, Mr. Morgan was pleased with the progress that he and John Fife made in the unwinding process. Mr. Morgan wrote a July 20, 1998 letter to John Fife thanking him for all of his help and cooperation “over the last year or so and particularly in the last month.” (Pl. Ex. 12(c)). The “last year or so” would have referred to the period of approximately July 1997 to July 1998. Again, Mr. Morgan made plain that URI had been diligently working on the MGO-URI unwindings since John Fife arrived on the scene. Once Mr. Fife and URI had completed their investigations, URI was able to enter into a Partnership Settlement Agreement with MGO to dissolve MGO’s affiliations, on terms beneficial to both companies. (R. 575; R 597-650, Pl. Ex. 15). Thanks to URI’s and John Fife’s initiative, the partnerships were finally unwound when the Partnership Settlement Agreement was signed in December of 1998.

4. The Mark Jones Factor.

In contrast to the cordial relationship between Mr. Fife and Mr. Morgan, Appellant Mark Jones did little but create strife. For example, John Morgan wrote in a September 22, 1998 letter to John Fife:

As you know, we—and you—have been wrestling with this Settlement between URI and MGO for a long time now; and we appreciate, very much, your good faith efforts to get it settled. . . Will you kindly keep in mind that I am concerned about two guys who are very anxious to find something wrong with the Settlement that we are trying to put together. This is Mark Jones and Jay Sheen. Mark Jones is really upset with us, because we are making very good progress against him, in our conflicts with him. . . . (Def. Ex. 7).

Similarly, Mr. Bennion testified that Mr. Morgan was “very gun-shy” and wanted to avoid another lawsuit with Mr. Jones. Thus, Mr. Morgan’s concerns about Mr. Jones delayed the unwinding process. (Tr. 431). In contrast, URI facilitated the unwinding process by allaying Mr. Morgan’s concerns. See supra, pp. 13-14. Mr. Morgan specifically acknowledged that he and John Fife had been working on the global settlement “for a long time now,”—not just the “five months” of August 1998 through December 1998 that Appellants claim was the only time URI was diligent. (Br. 28).

Mr. Jones’s actions throughout the MGO unwinding process demonstrate not only his contentious personality, but also his conflict of interest as a shareholder of both URI and MGO and a Board member of both companies. He tried to negotiate for both companies to the detriment of the other. Various of URI’s Board members recognized Mr. Jones’s divided loyalties. For example, Mr. Hurd testified, “I may have had a concern about all of this, because of Mr. Jones’ position with MGO, and whether or not it was in the best interests of MGO or in the best interests of URI or either.” (Tr. 160).

Mr. Jones tried to work the MGO side first. On April 19, 1996, Mr. Jones wrote to John Morgan of MGO regarding his intent to “use my best efforts to have URI pay to MGO the full amount due under the Note Receivable from the Service Station Limited Partnership in the amount of \$120,000, and allow a credit to that amount . . . to URI in exchange for return of all MGO stock held by URI. . . . Thus, MGO should be able to retire the MGO stock held by URI without having to actually come up with the additional funds. . . .” (Def. Ex. 6). When his proposal was not accepted, Mr. Jones made another proposal to URI by a letter dated November 24, 1997, wherein he urged “a full cash

payment of \$245,000 to MGO” by URI. (Pl. Ex. 11). He also inexplicably stated: “I hereby demand that Ladd Eldredge of URI and Mike Bennion of MGO finalize the precise amounts of the various obligations. . . and prepare simple assignment documents of the various limited partnership interests within the next two weeks.” (Id.). Ironically, regardless of the standing of Mr. Jones to demand that URI move quickly in the direction he preferred, MGO did not have to listen to him at all.

URI rejected Mr. Jones’s attempts to interfere in the unwinding because Mr. Jones’ proposal would have cost the company \$245,000. (Tr. 332; Pl. Ex. 11). Ultimately, URI paid only \$80,491.00 to MGO via a promissory note. (Pl. Ex. 15, p.3). Nor did URI wish to entrust Mr. Eldredge with significant responsibility, despite Mr. Jones’s demands, because Mr. Eldredge had not proved to be very reliable or organized. (Tr. 500). Moreover, URI wanted to achieve a complete unwinding, with a global settlement and mutual releases. That is precisely what URI achieved, as reflected in the Partnership Settlement Agreement. (Pl. Ex. 15). Mr. Jones refused to admit that the result URI achieved was better than the one he proposed. (Tr. 332-333). Regardless of Mr. Jones’s opinions regarding what should have been done or should not have been done, he and MTC failed to meet their burden of demonstrating that URI failed to use its best efforts throughout the unwinding process. All they proved is that URI and Mr. Jones/MTC disagreed about how and when the unwinding should have been accomplished. As the trial court determined, these facts do not establish a claim for breach of the Settlement Agreement’s best efforts clause by URI. (R. 2121).

5. URI's Other Priorities.

In addition to educating itself and pursuing the unwinding of the URI-MGO relationships, URI also had numerous other matters on its plate during 1996 and 1997. Even Mr. Bennion of MGO admitted knowing that URI “had to concentrate on getting their SEC filings up to date.” (Tr. 428). Mr. Fife also testified regarding the need to provide liquidity to minority shareholders via the reverse stock split, and to reverse years of losses.⁴ (Tr. 559-564; Def. Ex. 21). The trial court recognized that in addition to ordering its priorities on the MGO issue, URI had to address company-wide priorities. (Add. Ex. C, R. 2121). Best efforts in a business context must always account for a company’s financial condition and its alternative uses for money and time. The trial court recognized that URI had to and did balance all of its priorities, including in completing the MGO unwinding. (R. 2121, Add. Ex C).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants assert that the trial court erred in applying the legal standard of best efforts. It did not. The trial court’s findings demonstrate a clear understanding of Utah law regarding contractual best efforts provisions, which acknowledges that “best efforts” is a “subjective standard under which a party agrees to do the best that it can regardless of the capabilities of others.” See Carlson Distributing Co. v. Salt Lake Brewing Co., 2004 UT App. 227.

⁴ Notably, one of Mr. Jones’s proposals from 1997 would have had URI, then a cash-poor company with losses exceeding \$444,000, pay out money to MGO to settle. His solution was to have URI borrow the money to pay MGO. (Tr. 328).

The trial court's findings are also consistent with the context in which the "best efforts" language is used throughout the Settlement Agreement at issue. Elsewhere in the contract, the parties said best efforts had to be used "immediately" or "within sixty days," but in the provision challenged here, there is no time limitation. This Court should not impose a requirement of a certain speed to accomplish a task, when the contracting parties did not see fit to do so.

In addition to legal error, Appellants argue that the trial court committed clear error in its factual findings regarding best efforts. As Appellants themselves acknowledge, however (Br. at 17-21), ample factual support in the record exists for this Court to affirm the trial court's judgment. The trial court simply chose to reject Appellants' arguments that URI should have adopted their proposal and time frame instead of investigating the facts and developing its own strategy over time. Indeed, the strategy that URI adopted was, just as the trial court found, in the company's best interest. (Add. Ex. C, R. 2121).

In essence, Appellants want this Court to second-guess the trial court's factual findings based on a cold record. This practice is disfavored. See State v. Calliham, 2002 UT 86 ("We review most evidentiary rulings and questions of fact with deference to the trial court based on the presumption that the trial judge, having personally observed the quality of the evidence, the tenor of the proceedings, and the demeanor of the parties, is in a better position to perceive the subtleties at issue than we can looking only at the cold record."). The trial court's findings of fact demonstrate that it found the testimony of Mr. Fife, Mr. Hurd, and Mr. Bennion to be more credible than that of Appellant, Mr. Jones. It

cannot be said that the trial court clearly erred in weighing the evidence as it did and in finding in URI's favor.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Correctly Applied The Law Regarding Best Efforts.

A. The Law In Utah And Other Jurisdictions Supports The Trial Court's Findings Of Law.

Under Utah law, "'best efforts' is primarily a subjective standard under which a party agrees to do the best that it can regardless of the capabilities of others. Under such a definition, evidence of the actions or capabilities of others may still be relevant. However, the two entities must indeed be comparable in the sense that evidence of the performance of one must also be evidence of the capabilities of the other." Carlson Distributing Co. v. Salt Lake Brewing Co., 2004 UT App. 227.

The trial court correctly applied the standard articulated in Carlson. The trial court applied a "subjective standard" when it noted that "particular circumstances" had to be considered in evaluating whether best efforts were used. (Add. Ex. C., R. 2120). The trial court emphasized that "best efforts" meant the "best effort possible in the context of the circumstances and situation." (Add. Ex. C., R. 2121). The particular circumstances identified by the trial court were that John Fife was new to URI, and needed to marshal, organize and analyze the records before he could even begin to prioritize all the tasks that required completion. (Id.). As in Carlson, the trial court recognized that John Fife and URI "did the best that" they could, without considering the capabilities of others. URI's "best efforts" required that John Fife, the new president, and new corporate counsel, Alan

Roth, spend a good deal of time evaluating what precisely each of the partnerships did, who the other partners were, what the assets and liabilities of each partnership were, and resolving numerous other issues from the lengthy and tangled relationship between MGO and URI that had existed for many years. See supra, pp. 9-14. Given these intensive efforts and the complexities of the task at hand, URI cannot be said to have used less than its “best efforts.” Compare Craig Food Indus., Inc. v. Taco Time Int’l, Inc., 469 F. Supp. 516 (D. Utah 1979) (evidence highlighted difficulties faced in trying to accomplish tasks; it was not established that best efforts were not used); EEOC v. R.J. Gallagher Co., 181 F.3d 645, 652 (5th Cir. 1999) (summary judgment on “best efforts” claim was appropriate; genuine efforts were demonstrated even if they did not consume every “waking hour” and best efforts means “such efforts as are reasonable in the light of that party's ability and the means at its disposal and of the other party's justifiable expectations”); Foster Wheeler Broome County, Inc. v. County of Broome, 275 A.D.2d 592, 593 (N.Y. App. Ct. 2000) (summary judgment granted on contractual “best efforts” claim where unrebutted evidence was presented of genuine efforts made to assist plaintiff in obtaining permit). Mr. Jones and MTC simply did not meet their burden of demonstrating a failure of “best efforts” by URI.

Mr. Jones’ and MTC’s gripe regarding the “best efforts” used to unwind the MGO partnerships is nothing more than another attack on the ways and means URI uses in its business judgment. Such an attack is unwarranted in the absence of a breach of a duty to all shareholders. See, e.g., C&Y Corp. v. General Biometrics, Inc., 896 P.2d 47, 55 (Utah App. 1995); Utah Code Ann. § 16-10a-840.

The authorities cited by Appellants from numerous other jurisdictions do not demand a different result. (Br. 11- 12). Those cases simply assert that an element of diligence is implicit in the best efforts standard. (Id.) Although to Appellees' knowledge, no Utah court has ever inserted a diligence requirement into the best efforts standard, even if a diligence requirement exists, URI's comprehensive program to unwind from its MGO relationships (while remaining true to the fiduciary duties owed to its shareholders) would more than satisfy any such requirement. See supra, pp. 9-17.

Appellants also argue that the trial court applied an incorrect standard of best efforts by confusing it with a good faith standard. This is not the case. First, in Beraha v. Baxter Health Care Corp., 956 F.2d 1436, 1445 (7th Cir. 1992), cited by Appellants to support this argument, the Seventh Circuit merely distinguished between an implied best efforts claim and an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim. Neither of those claims is at issue here, where there is a clear contract with an unambiguous best efforts provision. Second, the trial court did not apply a "good faith" standard. As demonstrated supra at pp. 19-20, the trial court applied precisely the standard that this Court articulated in Carlson.

B. The Settlement Agreement Itself Demonstrates That The Trial Court Applied The Correct "Best Efforts" Standard.

The Settlement Agreement provides further support for affirming the trial court's interpretation of the "best efforts" clause at issue. The clause at issue, Paragraph 1.j of the Settlement Agreement, states:

The Parties hereto shall exercise their best efforts to account for, pay, compromise, unwind, and/or terminate all existing

contractual relationships between URI and Morgan Gas & Oil Co.

Notably, the clause provides no time frame for unwinding the MGO partnerships. Two other “best efforts” provision of that same Agreement—paragraphs 1.a and 1.b—do have time frames for using best efforts. Paragraph 1.a. states that best efforts were to be used “immediately following the Closing” and paragraph 1.b states that best efforts were to be used “within 60 days” of the Settlement Agreement. (See Add. Ex. A).

Because the parties did not specify a time frame for unwinding the URI-MGO partnerships, and they were in fact unwound, Appellants’ repeated complaints that it should have taken less time than it did and that it should have been accomplished in a different way, lack any merit. (Br. 2, 6, 9, 14, 15, 21, 22, 23, 26, 27, 28).

Utah law is clear that this Court should not impose a time frame upon or a particular methodology upon the parties when they did not see fit to include such conditions in their contract themselves. See Crowther v. Carter, 767 P.2d 129, 132 (Utah App. 1989). In Crowther, the Appellant wanted the “best efforts” clause to require success in the endeavor, even though the contract did not contain this term, but the Court held “it is not the function of a court to rewrite an unambiguous contract,” citing Provo City Corp. v. Nielson Scott Co., 603 P.2d 803 (Utah 1979). Id. The Court further held that, “Although the parties could have made such an agreement, the clear language... states that Crowther only had to use his best efforts to become the obligor; in return for that and other conduct, respondent became the owner of one-fifth of the partnership.” (Emphasis added). As in Crowther, here, one party wants to re-write the contract to

include a term that could have been included, but was not. This Court should reject Appellants' attempt to impose a time frame or particular conditions upon the URI-MGO unwindings.

Under Utah law, URI did not even have an obligation to ensure the success of the project. The "best efforts" standard acknowledges that there may be subjective circumstances and conditions beyond one party's control that may preclude success of the endeavor, even when best efforts are used. That is why the standard simply requires that the parties try to accomplish the task—in other words, that they make an effort, not that they actually do it. See Rogers v. M.O. Bitner Co., 738 P.2d 1029, 1034 (Utah 1987). In that case, under a trust agreement, "Westcor agreed to use best efforts to reobtain certain real estate contracts previously assigned by Westcor by a designated date, after which Bitner Company would hold Westcor harmless." Id. Thus, once a party used its "best efforts," even if it did not accomplish the task by a given date, its responsibility ended. Here, the parties not only used best efforts, they accomplished the task. URI and MGO accomplished the unwinding of all of their relationships even though MGO—the opposing party in the negotiations—did not sign the 1996 Settlement Agreement and was under no contractual or legal compulsion to "unwind" at all.

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